
 

 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

WESTERN DIVISION 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
EX REL. AMERICAN FIBER SYSTEMS, 
INC., 
 
 PLAINTIFF, 
 
v. 
 
KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI 
SCHOOL DISTRICT, 
 
                        DEFENDANT, 
 
and 
 
AT&T INC. (f/k/a Southwestern Bell 
Telephone L.P.),  
 
                       DEFENDANT. 
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CASE NO. 06-0389-CV-W-NKL 

   
 

FILED IN CAMERA  
AND UNDER SEAL 

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a qui tam action to recover damages and civil penalties on behalf of the 

United States of America arising from false statements and claims made and presented by the 

Defendants and/or their agents, employees and co-conspirators in violation of the Federal Civil 

False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq., as amended (“the Act”).   

2. The violations of the Act involve claims for approval and/or payments that 

Defendants made to the Schools and Libraries Division (“SLD”) of the Universal Service 

Administrative Company (“USAC”) since as early as 2001, which Defendants knew were false, 
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for which Defendants acted in deliberate ignorance of the truth or falsity of the information 

submitted, and/or for which Defendants acted in reckless disregard of the truth or falsity of the 

information submitted, in that Defendants sought approval and funding for services ineligible to 

receive federal funding.   

3. The Act provides that any person who knowingly submits or causes to be 

submitted a false or fraudulent claim to the Government for payment or approval is liable for a 

civil penalty of up to $10,000.00 for each such claim submitted or paid, plus three times the 

amount of the damages sustained by the Government.  Liability attaches when: a defendant 

knowingly presents or causes to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment from the 

Government; knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement to 

get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved by the Government; or conspires to defraud the 

Government by getting a false or fraudulent claim allowed or paid.   

4. The Act allows any person having information regarding a false or fraudulent 

claim against the Government to bring an action for itself (the “Relator”) and for the 

Government and to share in any recovery.   

5. This Complaint is filed under seal for a minimum of 60 days (without service on 

the Defendants during that period) to enable the Government:  (a) to conduct its own 

investigation without the Defendants’ knowledge, and (b) to determine whether to intervene in 

the action. 

6. Based on the provisions of the Act, Plaintiff/Relator seeks to recover treble 

damages and civil penalties arising from Defendant Kansas City, Missouri School District’s 

(“KCMSD”) presentation of false records, claims, and statements to the United States 

Government and its agents in connection with its claims for approval of and payment for services 
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under the Universal Service Fund Education-rate (“E-rate”) program, and for its conspiracy with 

Defendant AT&T Inc. (f/k/a Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, L.P.) (“SBC”) to get false 

or fraudulent claims allowed or paid by the Government.   

7. Based on the provisions of the Act, Plaintiff/Relator seeks to recover damages and 

penalties arising from Defendant SBC’s presentation of false records, claims, and statements to 

the United States Government and its agents in connection with claims for payment of services 

under the Universal Service Fund E-rate program, and for its conspiracy with KCMSD to get 

false or fraudulent claims allowed or paid by the Government. 

II. PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff and Relator, American Fiber Systems, Inc. (“AFS”) is a Delaware 

corporation, with its principal place of business located at 100 Meridian Centre, Suite 250, 

Rochester, New York 14618.  AFS brings this action for violations of 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq., 

on behalf of itself and the United States Government pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(1).  AFS 

has direct and independent knowledge of the allegation contained herein and is therefore an 

“original source” as so required by 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq. 

9. Defendant Kansas City, Missouri School District (“KCMSD”) is a political 

subdivision with its principal place of business located at 1211 McGee, Kansas City, Missouri 

64106.  The School District is an Urban District, as defined in Ch. 162.461, RSMo. 

10. Defendant AT&T Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principle place of 

business at 175 East Houston Street, San Antonio, Texas.  On Nov. 18, 2005, SBC 

Communications Inc. completed its acquisition of AT&T Corp. and adopted AT&T Inc. as its 

name.  AT&T Inc. was formerly known as Southwestern Bell Telephone Company, L.P. 

(hereinafter referred to as “SBC”) and operates through itself and through various wholly-owned 

subsidiaries acting on its behalf, including, inter alia, SBC Advanced Solutions. 
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III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and 31 U.S.C. § 3732, which specifically confers jurisdiction on this Court for 

actions brought pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 and 3730. 

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants pursuant to 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3732(a), which provides that “[a]ny action under Section 3730 may be brought in any judicial 

district in which the defendant, or in the case of multiple defendants, any one defendant can be 

found, resides, transacts business or in which any act proscribed by section 3729 occurred.”  

Section 3732(a) also authorizes nationwide service of process.  Defendants, during the relevant 

period, resided in and/or transacted business in the Western District of Missouri. 

13. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a) because 

Defendants can be found in, reside in, and/or transact business in the Western District of 

Missouri and because some of the violations of 31 U.S.C. § 3729 described herein occurred 

within this judicial district. 

14. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3731(b)(1)(2), this False Claims Complaint is hereby 

initiated within the applicable statute of limitations.  

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND ALLEGATIONS 

15. AFS has direct and independent knowledge of violations of the False Claims Act 

involving claims made by KCMSD and SBC for payment and/or approval of Government funds 

from the Schools and Libraries Division (“SLD”) of the Universal Service Administrative 

Company (“USAC”).  The SLD of USAC oversees the E-rate program.   

The E-Rate Program 

16. The E-rate program is authorized by 47 U.S.C. § 254, et seq., which further 

authorized the Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) to promulgate rules and 
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regulations.  Those rules are set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.1 et seq. and certain FCC Orders 

amplifying the applicable rules. 

17. Through the E-rate program, qualifying schools and libraries submit requests to 

the SLD of USAC to receive approval and payment of funding for services based upon a 

discount rate calculated according to the economic level of the population served.  For schools, 

discounts are between 20% and 90%.  KCMSD qualified for a discount rate of 86% in the 2004 

funding year and for a discount rate of 85% in the 2005 and 2006 funding years.   

18. Based upon a discount rate of 86%, KCMSD was authorized to procure certain 

technology–related equipment and services for which, upon receipt of funding approval, 

KCMSD was required to pay 14% of the cost, and the Government would pay 86% of the cost 

for the 2004 funding year.  The amount KCMSD is required to pay varies from year to year 

depending upon the discount rate for which it qualifies in the applicable year and the approval 

for Government funds it receives.   

19. Depending on the year in question, KCMSD has received between $3.4 and $23.8 

million in federal funds per year under the E-rate program since 2002.   

20. For the 2005 funding year, the SLD of USAC has committed $2,086,163 to 

KCMSD, and KCMSD made additional requests for funding approval from the Government of 

$6,196,549.  For the 2006 funding year, KCMSD has requested approval for $22,193,600 in 

Government E-rate funding from the SLD of USAC.   

21. The USAC and FCC have promulgated specific requirements to obtain approval 

for and to receive Government funding through the E-rate program.  These requirements include, 

inter alia, the following: 
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(a) To receive federal funding through the E-rate program, the eligible school 

or library must submit a completed FCC Form 470 to the Administrator of USAC 

identifying the school’s technology needs and the services for which it seeks discounts.  

47 C.F.R. § 54.04(b)(1). 

(b) The FCC Form 470 must be signed by a person authorized to order 

telecommunications and other supported services for the eligible school and shall include 

that person’s certification, under oath, of various criteria, including but not limited to:   

(iii) All of the individual schools, libraries, and library consortia 
receiving services are covered by:  

. . . 

(B) Higher-level technology plans for using the services 
requested in the application;  

. . . 

(viii) All bids submitted will be carefully considered and the bid 
selected will be for the most cost-effective service or equipment 
offering, with price being the primary factor, and will be the most 
cost-effective means of meeting educational needs and technology 
plan goals. 

47 C.F.R. § 54.04(b)(2). 

(c) To receive federal funding under the E-rate program, the eligible school is 

required to seek competitive bids, consistent with the FCC rules.  “The competitive bid 

requirements apply in addition to state and local competitive bid requirements and are not 

intended to preempt such state or local requirements.”  47 C.F.R. § 54.504(a). 

(d) The FCC rules are amplified by Orders of the Commission.  In re Federal-

State Joint Board on Universal Service: Fifth Report and Order, 19 FCC Rcd. 15808 

(August 13, 2004), ¶21.  (Attached as Ex A).  For example:   
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(i) “Section 254(h)(1)(B) of the Communications Act of 1934, as 

amended, states that E-rate applicants must submit a ‘bona fide request’ for 

services.  The Commission has stated that the bona fide requirement means that 

applicants must conduct internal assessments of the components necessary to use 

effectively the discounted services they order, submit a complete description of 

services they seek so that it may be posted for competing providers to evaluate, 

and certify to certain criteria under perjury.  Further, applicants may violate the 

statutory bona fide requirement through conduct that undermines the fair and 

open competitive bidding process.”  In re Ysleta Independent School Dist., El 

Paso, Texas, 19 FCC Rcd. 15252 (July 30, 2004), ¶56.  (Attached as Ex. B). 

(ii) “We emphasize that applicants and service providers are prohibited 

from using the schools and libraries support mechanism to subsidize the 

procurement of ineligible or unrequested products and services, or from 

participating in arrangements that have the effect of providing a discount level to 

applicants greater than that to which they are entitled.”  In re Ysleta Independent 

School Dist., El Paso, Texas, 19 FCC Rcd. 15252 (July 30, 2004), ¶60.  

(iii) “We also stress that direct involvement in an application process 

by a service provider would thwart the competitive bidding process.”  In re Ysleta 

Independent School Dist., El Paso, Texas, 19 FCC Rcd. 15252 (July 30, 2004), 

¶60.  (See Ex B). 

(iv) “[A]ll products and services listed on FCC Form 470 must be 

linked in a reasonable way to the applicant’s technology plan and not request 
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duplicative services.”  In re Ysleta Independent School Dist., El Paso, Texas, 19 

FCC Rcd. 15252 (July 30, 2004), ¶36.  (See Ex. B). 

(e) After completing the competitive bidding process, an eligible school 

“shall, upon signing a contract for eligible services, submit a completed FCC Form 471 to 

the Administrator.”  47 C.F.R. §54.04(c). 

(f) The FCC Form 471 must be signed by a person authorized to order 

telecommunications and other supported services for the eligible school and shall include 

that person’s certification, under oath, of various criteria, including but not limited to: 

(iv) All of the schools and libraries listed on the FCC Form 471 
application are covered by: 

. . . 

(B) Higher-level technology plans for the services 
requested in the FCC Form 471 application;  

. . . 

(vi) The entities listed on the FCC Form 471 application have 
complied with all applicable state and local laws regarding 
procurement of services for which support is being sought. 

. . . 

(viii) The entities listed in the application have complied with 
all program rules and acknowledge that failure to do so may 
result in denial of discount funding and/or recovery of funding. 

. . . 

(x) The applicant recognizes that it may be audited pursuant to 
its application, that it will retain for five years any and all 
worksheets and other records relied upon to fill out its 
applications, and that, if audited, it will make such records 
available to the Administrator. 

(xi) all bids submitted were carefully considered and the most 
cost-effective bid for services or equipment was selected, with 
price being the primary factor considered, and is the most cost-
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effective means of meeting educational needs and technology 
plan goals. 

47 C.F.R. § 54.04(c)(1). 

(g) The Form 471 sets forth, for each contract for which E-rate funding is 

sought, a Funding Request Number (“FRN”).  The FRN is then used by the SLD of 

USAC going forward to represent specific contracts identified on the FCC Form 471. 

(h) After receiving the FCC Form 471, the SLD of USAC issues a Funding 

Decision Commitment Letter (“FDCL”) setting forth the amount of federal funds 

committed for each contract/FRN based on the FCC Form 471 application for funding. 

(i) After receiving an FDCL, the school is required to file FCC Form 486 to 

provide SLD information regarding specific FRNs for which designated service providers 

are authorized to submit invoices to SLD.  The school is required to certify on the FCC 

Form 486 that it has signed contracts covering all FRNs listed and “that the services 

listed on this Form 486 have been, are planned to be, or are being provided to some or all 

of the eligible entities identified in the Form 471 application(s) cited above.” 

(j) After a funding commitment is issued and a FCC Form 486 is filed, funds 

are disbursed either to the entity seeking service or directly to the service provider.  FCC 

Form 472, Billed Entity Applicant Reimbursement Form (“BEAR Form”) is used to 

request that funds be disbursed to the entity seeking services, the “billed entity,” and FCC 

Form 474, Service Provider Invoice Form (“SPI Form”) is used to request that funds be 

disbursed directly to the service provider. 

(k) The BEAR Form must be signed by an authorized person on behalf of the 

billed entity, who is required to certify that: 

A.  The discount amounts listed in Column (15) of this Billed 
Entity Applicant Reimbursement Form represent charges for 
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eligible services, delivered to and used by eligible schools, 
libraries, or consortia of those entities for educational purposes, 
on or after the actual service start date reported on the 
associated Form 486. 

B.  The discount amounts listed in Column (15) of this Billed 
Entity Applicant Reimbursement Form were already billed by 
the service provider and paid by the Billed Entity Applicant on 
behalf of eligible schools, libraries, and consortia of those 
entities. 

C.  The discount amounts listed in Column (15) of this Billed 
Entity Applicant Reimbursement Form are for eligible services 
approved by the fund administrator pursuant to a Form 471 
Funding Commitment Decision Letter. 

D.  I recognize that I may be audited pursuant to this 
application and will retain for five years any and all records 
that I rely upon to fill in this form. 

22. SBC and KCMSD, through its employees and agents, had knowledge of these 

requirements, willingly proceeded with the claims made, made false certifications on forms 

submitted to the SLD of USAC seeking approval of funding, and accepted federal funds in 

violation of the E-rate requirements. 

The False Claims Made 

23. Although the extent of violation currently is unknown, AFS had direct knowledge 

that KCMSD submitted false applications for funding for at least one contract that had been 

cancelled, has sought funding for duplicative services (falsely certifying the funds sought 

complied with the E-rate program rules) and has sought funds for higher-priced services not 

approved by its technology plan to provide the same functionality of a cancelled contract (falsely 

certifying the funds sought complied with E-rate program rules).  Further, AFS has direct 

knowledge that SBC participated and was complicit in these actions.  
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A. KCMSD’s Technology Plan 

24. KCMSD adopted a Technology Plan for the years 2003-2006 (the “‘03-‘06 TP”). 

(Attached as Ex. C).  The ‘03-‘06 TP explained a portion of KCMSD’s technology 

infrastructure: 

Each school currently has a Local Area Network (LAN), which 
connects into the District Wide Area Network (WAN).  The 
District has put in place three-core hub sites connected by a DS3.  
One site is the Board of Education Building and the other two sites 
are a middle school and a high school.  From each hub site, 1/3 of 
the District’s locations are connected via T-1 lines into the 
buildings.  Each T-1 is currently split to carry voice and data 
services. 

(See Ex. C, p. 7). 

25. The ‘03-‘06 TP further sets forth specified technology objectives, including the 

following, which is designated as Objective 2:  “The District will increase bandwidth to meet 

DESE [Department of Elementary and Secondary Education] guidelines for LAN and WAN 

capacity.”  (See Ex. C, p.47). 

26. In the fall of 2005, KCMSD issued an updated plan, titled the 2006-2009 District 

Technology Plan (the “‘06-‘09 TP”).  (Attached as Ex. D). 

27. The ‘06-‘09 TP reported on the current status of Objective 2, as set forth in the 

‘03-‘06 TP, to increase bandwidth for LAN and WAN capacity.  The ‘06-‘09 TP provides, with 

respect to Objective 2, “The District is in the midst of installing its new infrastructure which will 

exceed DESE guidelines.  There will be a 10 gig core [replacing DS3 lines] and 100 mb to each 

school site.  Installation is expected to be completed by July, 2006.”  (See Ex. D, p.49). 

28. The ‘06-‘09 TP further describes the technology infrastructure with the new 

bandwidth:   

Each school currently has a Local Area Network (LAN), which 
connects into the District Wide Area Network (WAN).  The 

Case 4:06-cv-00389-HFS   Document 1    Filed 05/10/06   Page 11 of 28



 

- 12 - 
 
21269711 

District has put in place three-core hub sites connected by a 10 gig 
interface.  One site is the Board of Education Building and the 
other two sites are a middle school and a high school.  From each 
site, 1/3 of the District’s locations are connected via 100 mb. 

(See Ex. D, p. 67). 

B. RFP C-03043 Seeking a High Speed WAN and the Duplicative Request for DS3s 

29. KCMSD filed FCC Form 470 Application Number 980990000475851 on or about 

December 12, 2003.  (See Ex. E).  Form 470 No. 980990000475851 stated in Bock 2 a request 

for, among other things:  Fiber Based WAN Services, 100 MB or Higher to 3 Hub Sites; and 

High Speed Data Lines, DS3 or Higher to Three Hub Sites.  (See Ex. E).  Form 470 No. 

980990000475851 also stated that KCMSD had no RFP for these services. 

30. On December 8, 2003, KCMSD’s outside consultant reported that RFPs for the 

services listed in Form 470 No. 980990000475851 had been completed.  On or about December 

12, 2003, KCMSD issued RFP C-03043.  (Attached as Ex. F).   

31. RFP C-03043 states:  “The District is seeking a solution to alleviate computer 

network bandwidth constraints linking its three core hub sites.  Consistent with the Technology 

Plan and as part of the District’s E-rate Application for Funding Year 2004, the District is 

seeking proposals from qualified vendors who have the experience, expertise and resources to 

provide high-speed data transport services between three hub sites in the District network.”  (See 

Ex. F, p. 14). 

32. Bids received in response to RFP C-03043 were opened on January 13, 2004.  On 

February 4, 2004, KCMSD entered into a contract with SBC Advanced Solutions, a subsidiary 

and agent of SBC, for the services to be performed under RFP C-03043. 

33. KCMSD violated its own Procurement Policies and, thus, its own competitive 

bidding requirements, in awarding the contract for RFP C-03043 to SBC Advanced Solutions.  
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For example, although the bidding requirements specify that bidders cannot supplement their 

proposals, and decisions are to be made prior to any negotiation of proposals with the chosen 

supplier, KCMSD and SBC participated in a conference call on January 21, 2004, seven days 

prior to the contract award, during which SBC supplemented its bid to include items not 

previously included in its proposal (although required by the RFP).  This supplemental proposal 

increased the cost of SBC’s bid by approximately $150,000.  Other bidders were not allowed to 

respond.  As another example, KCMSD and SBC negotiated which of its services would be 

allocated for submission to the SLD of USAC as “up front” costs versus monthly recurring 

charges.  (See Ex. G). 

34. On March 15, 2004, KCMSD filed FCC Form 471 Application No. 428665, in 

which it sought approval for funding of $628,584.00 for the services awarded in the contract 

identified as “High Speed Data Network,” resulting from RFP C-03043, which it described in 

Attachment KCMSD 1.5 to FCC Form 471 No. 428665 as “New High Speed Wide Area 

Network per RFP award to SBC.  This FRN is for a high speed, fiber optic link to the district 

three hub sites using SBC’s MON service (Managed Optical Network) to provide gigabit 

connections to three hubs.”  (See Ex. H).   

35. KCMSD also sought funding in FCC Form 471 No. 428665 of $461,334.96 for 

the contract identified as “School T1 Lines,” which it described in Attachment KCMSD 1.4 to 

FCC Form 471 No. 428665 as “existing 70 T1 lines plus six DS3 lines to schools and the District 

Office for WAN and Internet access.”   (See Ex. H). 

36. Pursuant to FCC Form 471 No. 428665, the contract identified as “High Speed 

Data Network” resulting from RFP C-03043 was assigned FRN 1189200, and the contract 

identified as “School T-1 Lines” for existing T-1 and DS3 lines was assigned FRN 1189156.  
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(See Ex. H).  The service provider for both FRN 1189200 and FRN 1189156 originally was SBC 

Advanced Solutions (later changed to Southwestern Bell Telephone Company). 

37. The DS3 lines (FRN 1189156) and the High Speed Data Network (FRN 1189200) 

were duplicative of one another, each performing the same function of creating a Wide Area 

Network to connect KCMSD’s three core hub sites, as set forth in KCMSD’s technology plans. 

38. KCMSD and SBC Advanced solutions had knowledge that the subject matter of 

FRN 1189156 and FRN 1189200 were for services performing a duplicative functionality and 

knowingly sought approval of Government funding for each, in violation of E-rate program 

rules. 

C. KCMSD Cancels RFP C-03043 

39. On March 29, 2004, KCMSD sent a letter to all parties that responded to RFP C-

03043 stating:  “Please be advised that the School District of Kansas City, Missouri is exercising 

its right to cancel the High Speed WAN/MAN Contract, RFP C-03043.  The District intends to 

withdraw its funding request with the E-rate program for this Contract.”  (See Ex. I). 

40. On March 29, 2004, KCMSD sent a letter to SBC Southwestern Bell Telephone 

LP stating:  “[P]lease be advised that the School District of Kansas City, Missouri is exercising 

its right to cancel the High Speed WAN/MAN Contract effective Friday, April 2, 2004.”  (See 

Ex. J). 

D. KCMSD Seeks Funding for a Cancelled Contract 

41. Following the cancellation of the contract for the services under RFP C-03043, 

KCMSD continued to correspond with the SLD of USAC regarding FRN 1189200.  On June 4, 

2004, KCMSD notified the SLD it was faxing it a copy of SBC’s response to RFP C-03043 to 

support its request for approval of funding under FRN 1189200.  (See Ex. K).  Ultimately, 

KCMSD excluded from its funding request a portion relating to “blades,” which reduced the 
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amount for which it was seeking approval for Government funding under FRN 1189200 to 

$411,582.24 for the 2004 funding year.  Throughout this period of time, KCMSD did not notify 

the SLD of USAC the contract had been cancelled. 

42. Each document provided by KCMSD between March 29, 2004 (the date KCMSD 

notified service providers of its cancellation of the contract for RFP C-03043 / FRN 1189200) 

and the date SLD approved funding for FRN 1189200 constitutes a separate violation of the 

ACT, in that KCMSD knowingly made or used a false record or statement to get a false or 

fraudulent claim approved. 

43. On March 24, 2005, KCMSD received a Funding Commitment Decision Letter 

notifying it that government funds in the amount of $411,582.24 had been reserved for use by 

KCMSD to pay for 86% of the cost of FRN 1189200 (relating to the cancelled contract arising 

from RFP C-03043).  (See Ex. L). 

44. On March 30, 2005, approximately one year after KCMSD cancelled the contract 

associated with RFP C-03043, KCMSD submitted FCC Form 486 Application No. 295979.  (See 

Ex. M).  KCMSD provided information regarding specific FRNs for the purpose of advising 

SLD that the named service provider could begin submitting invoices to SLD.  KCMSD 

specifically notified SLD that SBC Advanced Solutions could provide invoices under FRN 

1189200.  Further, KCMSD certified “that the services listed on this Form 486 have been, are 

planned to be, or are being provided to some or all of the eligible entities identified in the Form 

471 application(s) cited above.  I [on behalf of KCMSD] certify that there are signed contracts 

covering all of the services listed on this Form 486 except for those services provided under tariff 

or month-to-month arrangements.”  (See Ex. M). 
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45. The certifications on FCC Form 486 were patently false.  This action is a direct 

violation of federal law and constitutes a false claim under the federal False Claims Act. 

46. On October 27, 2005, KCMSD sought to change the Service Provider Information 

Number (“SPIN”) used by SLD to disburse funds to service providers.  KCMSD submitted a 

request to change the SPIN from that of SBC Advanced Solutions (SPIN 143022137) to 

Southwestern Bell Telephone Company (SPIN 143004662) for both FRN 1189200 and FRN 

1189156.  (See Ex. N).  This action also constituted a separate violation of the False Claims Act. 

47. Thereafter, KCMSD filed a BEAR Form to receive reimbursement of discounted 

amounts for which KCMSD certified it had paid in full for eligible services approved for 

discounts.  (See Ex. O).  Specifically, KCMSD sought reimbursement for services allegedly 

received pursuant to FRN 1189156 in the amount of $358,325.05 and FRN 1189200 in the 

amount of $171,734.92. 

48. The claim for funds under the BEAR Form (Ex. O) was false in that KCMSD did 

not have a right to receive the funds, the funds sought were for duplicative services, and the 

funds sought pursuant to FRN 1189200 were certified to be for services SBC did not perform.  

This action is a direct violation of federal law and constitutes two separate false claims under the 

federal False Claims Act. 

49. On February 14, 2006, the SLD of USAC sent a BEAR Form Notification Letter 

to KCMSD and SBC in which KCMSD and SBC were notified that $358,325.05 was being 

disbursed under FRN 1189156 and that no funds would be disbursed at that time under FRN 

1189200 because SLD had received “no response from applicant.”  (See Ex. P).  The entire 

amount of the funds earmarked for disbursement under FRN 1189200 remains committed and 

may be disbursed to KCMSD / SBC at any time.   
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50. Neither KCMSD or SBC had or have a right to receive funds under FRN 1189200 

or under that portion of FRN 1189156 relating to DS3 lines because KCMSD has not complied 

with E-rate program rules and has made false certifications for these funds.  Rather than cancel 

FRN 1189200 after the WAN project was cancelled, KCMSD submitted requests relating to 

invoices from Southwestern Bell Telephone Company for services not approved under FRN 

1189200 and not provided by SBC pursuant to the cancelled High Speed Data Network Contract, 

RFP C-03043. 

E. KCMSD and SBC Conspire to Seek Services Inconsistent With KCMSD’s 
Technology Plan and Which are Triple the Cost of Obtaining the Same 
Functionality by Using Services Approved by KCMSD’s Technology Plan  

51. While KCMSD proceeded to submit documentation to support approval of 

funding and to receive payment under the contract with SBC for RFP C-03043 (a contract it 

already had cancelled), KCMSD and SBC conspired together to avoid a competitive rebid of the 

cancelled RFP C-03043. 

52. On May 14, 2004, SBC sent an e-mail to Don Dietrich (KCMSD’s outside E-rate 

consultant and an agent of KCMSD for purposes of the E-rate program (See Ex. Q)) stating: 

Now that the MON contract [RFP C-03043] was cancelled by the 
School District and the WAN RFP, we have discussed another 
service called OPT-E-MAN (10 G) as a replacement of the current 
6 DS3’s and 92 T1’s for the WAN backbone with Dennis Peterson 
[KCMSD employee].  He is considering putting in an e-rate 
substitution form for the product to avoid another RFP.  Not sure if 
he will be successful with that though. 

(See Ex. R). 

53. No E-rate substitution form was submitted or approved for FRN 1189200. 

54. Thereafter, in November of 2004, KCMSD issued a new RFP for a WAN for the 

purpose of alleviating the District’s bandwidth constraints, the same purpose for which RFP C-

03043 was issued.  However, this RFP (issued for the 2005 funding year) sought connections 
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between seven different buildings rather than the District’s three core hub sites, as KCMSD’s 

technology plans provide.  KCMSD filed FCC Form 470 No. 775910000509203 on November 

11, 2004, stating “This RFP is for a multi-year contract on a high-speed WAN.”  (See Ex. S). 

55. Through RFP C-03043, KCMSD was to have leased a High Speed WAN/MAN to 

provide the necessary infrastructure to upgrade bandwidth from that provided by DS3 lines used 

by KCMSD to connect its various locations.  The central portion included a WAN ring to replace 

existing DS3 lines to connect three hub sites (subject matter of cancelled contract with SBC for 

RFP C-03043 a/k/a FRN 1189200), and certain T1 lines would have run from the WAN ring to 

individual locations (a portion of the subject matter of FRN 1189156).   

56. On February 18, 2005, KCMSD submitted FCC Form 471 Application No. 

455417 in which it seeks E-rate funding for the 2005 funding year.  (See Ex. T).  Pursuant to the 

new RFP referenced in ¶54 above, KCMSD entered into a contract with SBC to provide a WAN 

to perform the same functionality as the WAN that would have been provided by the subject 

matter of RFP C-03043.  KCMSD seeks, in FCC Form 471 No. 455417, $1,367,527.31 for 

Contract No. SBC.HSWAN, identified on FCC Form 471 No. 455417 as the only contract 

arising from FCC Form 470 No. 775910000509203 (the only Form 470 KCMSD filed for the 

2005 funding year), which indicated KCMSD was seeking “a multi-year contract on a high-

speed WAN.”  FCC Form 471 No. 455417 identified Contract No. SBC.HSWAN as FRN 

1288511. 

57. The service sought in FRN 1288511, awarded to Southwestern Bell Telephone 

Company, is intended to provide the same functionality as FRN 1189200 (RFP C-03043).  Under 

RFP C-03043, the same functionality would have cost $411,582.24 in Government E-rate funds 
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per year.  Rather than seek funding of $411,582.24 per year to provide this functionality, 

however, KCMSD and SBC are seeking Government E-rate funds of $1,367,527.31 per year. 

58. The change of location of the KCMSD high speed WAN form the three core hub 

sites to seven outlying buildings, more than tripling the cost of Government funds sought for the 

same functionality ($411,582 to $1,367,527), is inconsistent with KCMSD’s ‘03-‘06 TP and with 

KCMSD’s ‘06-‘09 TP. 

59. KCMSD certified on FCC Form 471 No. 455417 that: 

A. I certify that I posted my Form 470 and (if applicable) 
made my RFP available for at least 28 days before considering all 
bids received and selecting a service provider.  I certify that all 
bids submitted were carefully considered and the most cost-
effective service offering was selected, with price being the 
primary factor considered, and is the most cost-effective means of 
meeting educational needs and technology plan goals. 

B. I certify that the entity responsible for selecting the service 
provider(s) has reviewed all applicable FCC, state, and local 
procurement/competitive bidding requirements and that the entity 
or entities listed on this application have complied with them. 

C. I certify that I and the entity(ies) I represent have complied 
with all program rules and I acknowledge that failure to do so may 
result in denial of discount funding and/or cancellation of funding 
commitments. . . . I acknowledge that failure to comply with 
program rules could result in civil or criminal prosecution by the 
appropriate law enforcement authorities. 

D. I certify that I am authorized to order telecommunications 
and other supported services for the eligible entity(ies) listed on 
this application.  I certify that I am authorized to submit this 
request on behalf of the eligible entity(ies) listed on this 
application, that I have examined this request, that all of the 
information on this form is true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge, that the entities that are receiving discounts pursuant to 
this application have complied with the terms, conditions and 
purposes of this program, that no kickbacks were paid to anyone 
and that false statements on this form can be punished by fine or 
forfeiture under the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. Secs. 502, 
503(b), or fine or imprisonment under the Title 18 of the United 
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States Code, 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1001 and civil violations of the False 
Claims Act. 

60. The certifications set forth on FCC Form 471 No. 455417 are false, and the 

request for funding approval for a service costing three times that for which the same 

functionality could be acquired consistent with KCMSD’s ‘03-‘06 TP and ‘06-‘09 TP constitutes 

a violation of the False Claims Act. 

61. The services for which funding is sought in FRN 1288511 is not the most cost-

effective means of meeting KCMSD’s educational needs and technology plan goals.  Both 

KCMSD and SBC have direct knowledge of this fact and knowingly conspired to seek 

Government funding of a higher priced service, depriving other low-income school children 

from access to those funds. 

F. KCMSD Seeks Funding for Duplicative Services for Funding Year 2005 

62. Further, FCC Form 471 No. 455417 seeks funding for Contract SBC.T1 in the 

amount of $455,970.60 (the same contract as FRN 1189156 from 2004 for DSC and T1 lines).  

Just as in 2004, when KCMSD sought funding for DS3 lines (FRN 1189156) and the duplicative 

WAN (FRN 1189200), KCMSD again, in 2005, sought funding for DS3 lines (FRN 1288507) 

and a duplicative WAN (FRN 128511).  Contract SBC.T1 was awarded to Southwestern Bell 

Telephone Company on February 4, 2004, but the service dates listed in FCC Form 471 No. 

455417 are for July 1, 2005 through June 30, 2006.  KCMSD failed to provide the “original 

FRN” as required on FCC Form 471 no. 455417, although Contract SBC.T1, identified as FRN 

1288507, is substantially identical to FRN 1182156.  The only difference is the reduction in the 

amount of requested funding from $461,334.96 to $455,970.60, representing a decrease in 

KCMSD’s qualified funding rate from 86% in 2004 to 85% in 2005.  If FRN 1288507 is an 

“existing contract,” the expiration date listed on FCC Form 471 No. 428665 would have shown it 
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was a multi-year contract.  It does not.  Rather, FCC Form 471 No. 428665 shows the contract 

start date for FRN 1182156 as July 1, 2004 and the contract ending date as June 30, 2005.  

Accordingly, KCMSD violated the E-rate rules in seeking funding for FRN 1288507 in funding 

year 2005. 

63. Just as FRN 1189156 sought funding for services duplicative of FRN 1189200, 

FRN 1288507 seeks funding for services duplicative of FRN 1288511. 

64. Accordingly, the request for approval of funding for FRN 1288511 in FCC Form 

471 constitutes a violation of the False Claims Act. 

G. KCMSD and SBC Conspire Again for the 2006 Funding Year to Seek 
Services Inconsistent With KCMSD’s Technology Plan and Which are Triple 
the Cost of Obtaining the Same Functionality by Using Services Approved by 
KCMSD’s Technology Plan 

65. Again, for the 2006 funding year, KCMSD and SBC have sought approval of 

funding from the SLD of USAC for duplicative services and for services that are not the most 

cost-effective and for services inconsistent with KCMSD’s ‘03-‘06 TP and ‘06-‘09 TP. 

66. On February 16, 2006, KCMSD submitted FCC Form 471 No. 503250 seeking 

Government E-rate funds for the 2006 funding year.  (See Ex. U). 

67. KCMSD seeks, in FCC Form 471 No. 503250, approval for funding in the 

amount of $455,970.60 for FRN 1461029, Contract T, originally submitted as FRN 1189156 for 

the 2004 funding year.  KCMSD also seeks in FCC Form 471 No. 503250 approval of funding 

for Contract SBC.HSWAN, FRN 1461210, in the amount of $1,367,523.35 to provide the same 

functionality as would have been provided by the three core hub site WAN, consistent with 

KCMSD’s technology plans, as sought in RFP C-03043 (FRN 1189200). 

68. KCMSD certified on FCC Form 471 No. 503250: 

A. I certify that I posted my Form 470 and (if applicable) 
made my RFP available for at least 28 days before considering all 
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bids received and selecting a service provider.  I certify that all 
bids submitted were carefully considered and the most cost-
effective service offering was selected, with price being the 
primary factor considered, and is the most cost-effective means of 
meeting educational needs and technology plan goals. 

B. I certify that the entity responsible for selecting the service 
provider(s) has reviewed all applicable FCC, state, and local 
procurement/competitive bidding requirements and that the entity 
or entities listed on this application have complied with them. 

C. I certify that I and the entity(ies) I represent have complied 
with all program rules and I acknowledge that failure to do so may 
result in denial of discount funding and/or cancellation of funding 
commitments. . . . I acknowledge that failure to comply with 
program rules could result in civil or criminal prosecution by the 
appropriate law enforcement authorities. 

D. I certify that I am authorized to order telecommunications 
and other supported services for the eligible entity(ies) listed on 
this application.  I certify that I am authorized to submit this 
request on behalf of the eligible entity(ies) listed on this 
application, that I have examined this request, that all of the 
information on this form is true and correct to the best of my 
knowledge, that the entities that are receiving discounts pursuant to 
this application have complied with the terms, conditions and 
purposes of this program, that no kickbacks were paid to anyone 
and that false statements on this form can be punished by fine or 
forfeiture under the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. Secs. 502, 
503(b), or fine or imprisonment under the Title 18 of the United 
States Code, 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1001 and civil violations of the False 
Claims Act. 

69. The certifications set forth on FCC Form 471 No. 5023250 are false, and the 

request for funding approval for a service costing three times that for which the same 

functionality could be acquired consistent with KCMSD’s ‘03-‘06 TP and ‘06-‘09 TP constitutes 

a violation of the False Claims Act. 

70. Through FRN 1461210, KCMSD seeks Government E-rate funds of 

$1,367,523.35 for Contract SBC.HSWAN for the 2006 funding year.  The services for which 

funding is sought in FRN 1461210 are not the most cost-effective means of meeting KCMSD’s 
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educational needs and technology plan goals.  Both KCMSD and SBC have direct knowledge of 

this fact and knowingly conspired to seek Government funding of a higher priced service, 

depriving low-income school children from access to those funds. 

H. KCMSD Seeks Funding for Duplicative Services for Funding Year 2006 

71. Further, FCC Form 471 No. 503250 seeks funding for Contract T in the amount 

of $455,970.60 (the same contract as FRN 1189156 from 2004 for DS3 and T1 lines).  Just as in 

2004, when KCMSD sought funding for DS3 lines (FRN 1189156) and the duplicative WAN 

(FRN 1189200), KCMSD again, in 2006, sought funding for DS3 lines (FRN 1461029) and a 

duplicative WAN (FRN 1461210).  Contract T was awarded to Southwestern Bell Telephone 

Company on February 4, 2004, but the service dates listed in FCC Form 471 No. 503250 are for 

July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2007.  KCMSD failed to provide the “original FRN” as required 

on FCC Form 471 no. 503250, although Contract T, identified as FRN 1461029, is substantially 

identical to FRN 1189156 (for the 2004 funding year).  The only difference is the reduction in 

the amount of requested funding form $461,334.96 to $455,970.60, representing a decrease in 

KCMSD’s qualified funding rate from 86% in 2004 to 85% in 2006.  If FRN 1461029 is an 

“existing contract,” the expiration date listed on FCC Form 471 No. 428665 (from funding year 

2004) would have shown it was a multi-year contract.  It does not.  Rather, FCC Form 471 No. 

428665 shows the contract start date for FRN 1189156 as July 1, 2004 and the contract ending 

date as June 30, 2005.  Accordingly, KCMSD violated the E-rate rules in seeking funding for 

FRN 1461029 in funding year 2006. 

72. Just as FRN 1189156 sought funding for services duplicative of FRN 1189200 in 

the 2004 funding year, FRN 1461029 seeks funding for services duplicative of FRN 1461210 for 

funding year 2006. 
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73. Accordingly, the request for approval of funding for FRN 1461210 in FCC Form 

471 No. 503250 constitutes a violation of the False Claims Act. 

74. AFS believes that additional violations of the False Claims Act will become 

known through discovery regarding, inter alia, violations of the competitive bidding process, 

funding sought for work performed in years for which funding was not approved, direct 

involvement by SBC in an application process, and requests for approval of funding for 

duplicative functionality services. 

I. SBC’s Prior Abuses 

75. SBC previously was investigated for violations of the E-rate program.  As a result 

of that investigation, SBC and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and affiliates entered into a Consent 

Decree before the Federal Communications Commission.  (Consent Decree Attached as Ex. V). 

76. The Consent Decree was based on a disclosure by SBC that one of its subsidiaries 

had: invoiced the SLD of USAC in one funding year for services provided in another, that it had 

invoiced SLD for services for which it had not sought and obtained authorization, and that it had 

invoiced SLD for ineligible services.  (See Ex. V, ¶ 3). 

77. Pursuant to the Consent Order, SBC was required to set up a Compliance Training 

Program, Regional E-Rate Coordinators, an E-Rate Oversight Team, E-Rate Oversight Team 

Subcommittees, and to appoint an SLD Principal Point of Contact.  (See Ex. V). 

78. Further, the Consent Order states that: 

The Bureau agrees that, in the absence of new evidence relating to incidents that 
were not the subject of the Investigation, the Bureau will not use the facts 
developed in the Investigation, or the existence of this Consent Decree, to 
institute, on its own motion, any new proceedings, formal or informal, or to take 
any actions on its own motion against SBC concerning that matters that were the 
subject of the Investigation.  The Bureau also agrees that, in the absence of such 
new evidence, it will not use the facts developed in the Investigation to institute 
on its own motion any proceeding, formal or informal, or take any action against 
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SBC with respect to its basic qualification, including its character qualifications, 
to be a Commission licensee. 
 
(See Ex. V, ¶ 7 (emphasis added)). 
 

79. The incidents and evidence supporting SBC’s involvement in violations of the E-

rate funding program, as set forth herein, constitutes evidence relating to incidents that were not 

the subject of the investigation leading to the Consent Order.  The evidence developed in the 

investigation leading to the Consent Order may be used against SBC in the investigation into the 

subject matter of the False Claims Act violations in this Complaint. 

COUNTS 

COUNT I 
SUBSTANTIVE VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

[31 U.S.C. §§ 3729(a)(1), (a)(2), (a)(7) and 3732(b)] 

80. Relator realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations made in 

Paragraphs 1 through 79 of this Complaint. 

81. This is a claim for statutory penalties, treble damages and forfeitures under the 

False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-32, as amended. 

82. Through the acts described above, Defendants and their agents and employees 

knowingly presented and caused to be presented to the United States Government multiple false 

or fraudulent claims for payment or approval of funding; and /or knowingly made or used, on 

multiple occasions, a false record or statement to get a false or fraudulent claim paid or approved 

by the Government through Universal Service Funds. 

83. The United States, its fiscal intermediaries, and the federal Universal Service 

Fund program, unaware of the falsity of the records, statements, and claims made or submitted 

by Defendants and their agents and employees approved, paid and continue to pay Defendants 

for claims that would not be approved or paid if the truth were known. 
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84. By reason of the Defendants’ false records, statements, claims, and omissions, the 

United States and the Universal Service Fund program have been damaged in an amount as yet 

unknown, but to be proven at trial, and believed to be multiple millions of dollars. 

COUNT II 
FALSE CLAIMS ACT CONSPIRACY 

[31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3) and 3732(b)] 

85. Relator realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations made in 

Paragraphs 1-84 of this Complaint. 

86. This is a claim for statutory penalties, treble damages and for forfeitures under the 

False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq., as amended. 

87. Through the acts described above and otherwise, Defendants entered into a 

conspiracy or conspiracies among themselves and with others to defraud the United States and 

federal Universal Service Fund programs by getting false and fraudulent claims allowed or paid.  

Defendants have taken substantial steps in furtherance of those conspiracies, inter alia, by 

preparing and submitting false reports, statements and other records to the Government for 

payment or approval.   

88. The United States, its fiscal intermediaries, and federal Universal Service Fund 

program, unaware of Defendants’ conspiracies or the falsity of the records, statements and 

claims made by Defendants and their agents, employees and co-conspirators, and as a result 

thereof, have approved and / or paid and continue to pay millions of dollars in Universal Service 

Funds that they would not otherwise have paid.  

89. By reason of Defendants’ conspiracies and the acts taken in furtherance thereof, 

the United States and the federal Universal Service Fund have been damaged in an amount as of 

yet unknown, but to be proven at trial, and believed to be multiple millions of dollars. 
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PRAYER 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff/Relator prays for judgment against Defendants as follows: 

(1) That Defendants cease and desist from violating 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.; 

(2) That the Court enter judgment against Defendants in an amount equal to three 

times the amount of damages the United States has sustained as a result of defendants’ actions, 

as well as a civil penalty against each defendant of $10,000 for each violation of 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3729; 

(3) That Plaintiff/Relator be awarded the maximum amount allowed pursuant to 

§ 3730(d) of the Federal Civil False Claims Act; 

(4) That Plaintiff/Relator be awarded all costs and expenses of this action, including 

attorneys’ fees; and 

(5) That the United States and Plaintiff/Relator receive all such other relief as the 

Court deems just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff/Relator hereby 

demands trial by jury. 

 
Dated: May 10, 2006 
 
       

Respectfully submitted, 
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SONNENSCHEIN, NATH & ROSENTHAL LLP 

By: /s/ Juliet A. Cox  
Juliet A. Cox MO Bar #42566 
Matthew L. Faul MO Bar #57397 
Mark P. Johnson MO Bar #30740 
4520 Main Street, Suite 1100 
Kansas City, MO  64111 
(816) 460-2400 
(816) 531-7545 (Facsimile) 
mjohnson@sonnenschein.com 
jcox@sonnenschein.com 
mfaul@sonnenschein.com 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF / RELATOR 
AMERICAN FIBER SYSTEMS, INC. 
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